UNIVERSIDAD AUTÓNOMA DE NUEVO LEÓN FACULTAD DE CIENCIAS QUÍMICAS



TESIS

CHARACTERIZATION OF A NOVEL ENZYME ISOLATED FROM *Bacillus cereus* 6P RESPONSIBLE FOR GLYPHOSATE BIODEGRADATION BY AN ALTERNATIVE PATHWAY TO C-P LYASE

QUE PRESENTA ELENA GUADALUPE VERDUZCO SUÁREZ

COMO REQUISITO PARA OBTENER EL GRADO DE

MAESTRÍA EN CIENCIAS CON ORIENTACIÓN EN MICROBIOLOGÍA APLICADA

MARZO 2024

UNIVERSIDAD AUTÓNOMA DE NUEVO LEÓN FACULTAD DE CIENCIAS QUÍMICAS



CHARACTERIZATION OF A NOVEL ENZYME ISOLATED FROM *Bacillus cereus* 6P RESPONSIBLE FOR GLYPHOSATE BIODEGRADATION BY AN ALTERNATIVE PATHWAY TO C-P LYASE

by

IBQ ELENA GUADALUPE VERDUZCO SUÁREZ

As a partial requirement to obtain the Degree of MASTER OF SCIENCE Major in Applied Microbiology

March 2024

Characterization of a novel enzyme isolated from *Bacillus cereus* 6P responsible for glyphosate biodegradation by an alternative pathway to C-P lyase.

The members for the elaboration of the thesis approve the thesis conducted by the student ELENA GUADALUPE VERDUZCO SUÁREZ, registration number 2130744, as an option for the degree of Master of Science Major in Applied Microbiology:

Dr. Juan Francisco Villarreal Chiu

Thesis Supervisor

Dra. Gabriela Elizabeth Quintanilla Villanueva

Thesis Co-supervisor

Dr. Edgar Allan Blanco Gámez

Thesis Committee

Dra. Melissa Marlene Rodríguez Delgado

Thesis Committee

Dra. Alma Elizabeth Gomez Loredo

Thesis Committee

SUMMARY

IBQ Elena Guadalupe Verduzco Suárez

Dissertation date: March 2024

Facultad de Ciencias Químicas Universidad Autónoma de Nuevo León

Characterization of a novel enzyme isolated from *Bacillus cereus* 6P responsible for glyphosate biodegradation by an alternative pathway to C-P lyase.

Number of pages: 47

Candidate for the degree of Master of Science Major in Applied Microbiology

Study area: Applied microbiology.

Aim and Method of study: To demonstrate that an intracellular enzyme isolated from *Bacillus cereus* 6P can biodegrade glyphosate, cleaving the C-P bond by an alternative pathway to C-P lyase independent of the phosphate level in the environment.

Conclusions: A semi-purified cytoplasmatic enzyme from *B. cereus* 6P could biodegrade glyphosate by an alternative pathway to C-P lyase, independent of phosphate levels in the milieu.

Dr. Juan Francisco Villarreal Chiu

Thesis Supervisor

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

I would like to thank everyone that lent me a hand (or ear) when I was frustrated with the experimental results.

To Dr. Chiu, for helping me during all the process, for the talks, the advice, and the push to learn new things, new techniques; I will always appreciate the knowledge acquired.

To Dra. Gaby (Gabriela Quintanilla), for each time that she was available to guide me and cheer me up.

To all my classmates and colleagues for all the laughing, the food, the photos, and parties. I hope to be in contact with you all, even if it's just to know how you are doing in your life.

To Yessica Silva, my poor friend and lab companion, she deserves acknowledgment and an apology for all the drama she had to endure working in the same area as me. I enormously appreciate all the laughs, the company and, the opportunity to travel with her and meet her family. Hope someday I can offer you the same and, how knows, maybe travel together to some beach.

To my family, for never asking me what I was doing.

To my beloved Aracely, for giving me all her faith, even when I was lost.

DEDICATION

To my fiancé, Aracely, for my first (and probably last) thesis.

l love you.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

SUMMARY	i
ACKNOWLEDGMENTS	ii
DEDICATORY	iii
CHAPTER 1 INTRODUCTION AND JUSTIFICATION	1
1.1 Introduction	1
1.2 Project Justification	5
CHAPTER 2 LITERATURE REVIEW	6
2.1 Phosphonates	6
2.2 Glyphosate in Mexico	6
2.3 Microbial Glyphosate Biodegradation	8
2.3.1 C-P Lyase Isolation	9
2.3.2 GOX Reports	. 11
2.3.3 Enzyme Prospects	. 12
CHAPTER 3 HYPOTHESIS AND OBJECTIVES	. 14
3.1 Hypothesis	. 14
3.2 General Objective	. 14
3.3 Specific Objectives	. 14
CHAPTER 4 METHODOLOGY	. 15
4.1 Strain Reactivation and Preservation	. 15
4.2 Production of the Enzyme	. 16
4.2.1 Growth Kinetics of the Strain	. 16
4.2.2 Culture Conditions to Produce the Enzyme	. 17
4.2.3 Obtention of the Enzyme	. 17
4.2.4 Protein Quantification	. 18
4.3 Characterization of Enzymatic Reaction	. 19
4.3.1 Enzymatic Assay	. 19
4.4 DISPOSAL OF GENERATED WASTE	. 20
CHAPTER 5 RESULTS AND DISCUSSION	.21
5.1 ENZYME PRODUCTION	.21
5.1.1 Growth Kinetics of the Strain	.21
5.1.2 Culture Conditions to Produce the Enzyme	.23
5.1.3 Protein and Phosphate Quantification	.26

5.1.4 Obtention of the Enzyme and Elimination of Contaminating Pi .	28
5.2 CHARACTERIZATION OF ENZYMATIC REACTION	32
5.2.1 Enzymatic Assay	32
CHAPTER 6 CONCLUSIONS	
6.1 Suggestions and Propositions	40
CHAPTER 7 REFERENCES	41

INDEX OF TABLES

1. Phosphate removal from cell-free extracts using different desalting
methods
2. Percentage of GP degradation by CE after 1 h incubation at 30 $^\circ\text{C}$ at
different pH values (n=2)
3. Percentage of GP degradation by CE after 1 h incubation at pH 8 at
different temperature values (n=2)
4. Summary of factors to evaluate the effects of pH and FAD on the
enzymatic activity
5. ANOVA to evaluate the effects of pH and FAD on the enzymatic activity.
6. Summary of steps employed in semi-purifying a glyphosate-degrading
enzyme from B. cereus 6P. Experiments were assayed in a reaction mix
containing FAD

INDEX OF FIGURES

oxygen, blue: nitrogen, orange: phosphorous)	Figure 1 Chemical structure of glyphosate (in grey: carbon, white: hydrogen, red:
 Figure 2. Bacterial pathways for glyphosate blodegradation	oxygen, blue: nitrogen, orange: phosphorous).
Figure 3. (a) Growth kinetics of <i>B. cereus</i> 6P in MMM and LB broth (n=3). Samples with absorbance higher than 1.0 were calculated using serial dilutions; (b) PHA granules detected in <i>B. cereus</i> 6P using Nile red staining after 72 h incubated in LB broth. Objective 100x	Figure 2. Bacterial pathways for glyphosate biodegradation
Samples with absorbance higher than 1.0 were calculated using serial dilutions; (b) PHA granules detected in <i>B. cereus</i> 6P using Nile red staining after 72 h incubated in LB broth. Objective 100x	Figure 3. (a) Growth kinetics of <i>B. cereus</i> 6P in MMM and LB broth (n=3).
 dilutions; (b) PHA granules detected in <i>B. cereus</i> 6P using Nile red staining after 72 h incubated in LB broth. Objective 100x	Samples with absorbance higher than 1.0 were calculated using serial
after 72 h incubated in LB broth. Objective 100x	dilutions; (b) PHA granules detected in <i>B. cereus</i> 6P using Nile red staining
 Figure 4. Gram staining of <i>B. cereus</i> 6P (24 h in LB broth). Objective 100x 24 Figure 5. Gram staining of <i>B. cereus</i> 6P. Comparison between (a) 120 h in MMM and (b) 210 h in MMM. Objective 100x (both)	after 72 h incubated in LB broth. Objective 100x
 Figure 5. Gram staining of <i>B. cereus</i> 6P. Comparison between (a) 120 h in MMM and (b) 210 h in MMM. Objective 100x (both)	Figure 4. Gram staining of <i>B. cereus</i> 6P (24 h in LB broth). Objective 100x 24
 and (b) 210 h in MMM. Objective 100x (both). 25 Figure 6. DAPI staining for polyP evaluation after 120 h of incubation on MMM (Acosta-Cortés et al., 2019). PolyP is observed as yellow-green granules after the staining with DAPI (4',6-diamidino-2-phenylindole). Isolates 3P and 7P as negative controls. 25 Figure 7. BSA calibration curve for protein quantification (n=3). 27 Figure 8. BSA calibration curve for protein quantification for diluted samples (n=3). 27 Figure 9. Calibration curve for phosphate concentration (n=3). 28 Figure 10. SDS-PAGE of cell-free extract. Separation achieved in 15% PA gel. In lane 1: molecular weight marker with myosin (200 kDa), β-galactosidase (116 kDa), phosphorylase B (97 kDa), albumin (66 kDa), glutamic dehydrogenase (55 kDa), ovalbumin (45 kDa), glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase (36 kDa), carbonic anhydrase (29 kDa), trypsinogen (24 kDa), trypsin inhibitor (20 kDa), α-lactalbumin (14.2 kDa), aprotinin (6.5 kDa) as standards; lane 2: crude extract after sonication; lane 3: solvent precipitation fraction. 31 Figure 11. Proposed activity of the novel enzyme. 32 Figure 13. Specific activity of cell-free extract incubated at pH 8.0 at different 	Figure 5. Gram staining of <i>B. cereus</i> 6P. Comparison between (a) 120 h in MMM
 Figure 6. DAPI staining for polyP evaluation after 120 h of incubation on MMM (Acosta-Cortés et al., 2019). PolyP is observed as yellow-green granules after the staining with DAPI (4',6-diamidino-2-phenylindole). Isolates 3P and 7P as negative controls. Figure 7. BSA calibration curve for protein quantification (n=3). 27 Figure 8. BSA calibration curve for protein quantification for diluted samples (n=3). 27 Figure 9. Calibration curve for phosphate concentration (n=3). 28 Figure 10. SDS-PAGE of cell-free extract. Separation achieved in 15% PA gel. In lane 1: molecular weight marker with myosin (200 kDa), β-galactosidase (116 kDa), phosphorylase B (97 kDa), albumin (66 kDa), glutamic dehydrogenase (55 kDa), ovalbumin (45 kDa), glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase (36 kDa), carbonic anhydrase (29 kDa), trypsinogen (24 kDa), trypsin inhibitor (20 kDa), α-lactalbumin (14.2 kDa), aprotinin (6.5 kDa) as standards; lane 2: crude extract after sonication; lane 3: solvent precipitation fraction. Figure 11. Proposed activity of the novel enzyme. 32 Figure 12. Specific activity of CE incubated at 30°C at different pH values; results are the mean of two independent assays. 33 Figure 13. Specific activity of cell-free extract incubated at pH 8.0 at different 	and (b) 210 h in MMM. Objective 100x (both)
 (Acosta-Cortés et al., 2019). PolyP is observed as yellow-green granules after the staining with DAPI (4',6-diamidino-2-phenylindole). Isolates 3P and 7P as negative controls. Figure 7. BSA calibration curve for protein quantification (n=3). 27 Figure 8. BSA calibration curve for protein quantification for diluted samples (n=3). 27 Figure 9. Calibration curve for phosphate concentration (n=3). 28 Figure 10. SDS-PAGE of cell-free extract. Separation achieved in 15% PA gel. In lane 1: molecular weight marker with myosin (200 kDa), β-galactosidase (116 kDa), phosphorylase B (97 kDa), albumin (66 kDa), glutamic dehydrogenase (55 kDa), ovalbumin (45 kDa), glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase (36 kDa), carbonic anhydrase (29 kDa), trypsinogen (24 kDa), trypsin inhibitor (20 kDa), α-lactalbumin (14.2 kDa), aprotinin (6.5 kDa) as standards; lane 2: crude extract after sonication; lane 3: solvent precipitation fraction. Figure 11. Proposed activity of the novel enzyme. 32 Figure 12. Specific activity of CE incubated at 30°C at different pH values; results are the mean of two independent assays. 33 Figure 13. Specific activity of cell-free extract incubated at pH 8.0 at different 	Figure 6. DAPI staining for polyP evaluation after 120 h of incubation on MMM
after the staining with DAPI (4',6-diamidino-2-phenylindole). Isolates 3P and 7P as negative controls	(Acosta-Cortés et al., 2019). PolyP is observed as yellow-green granules
and 7P as negative controls.25Figure 7. BSA calibration curve for protein quantification (n=3).27Figure 8. BSA calibration curve for protein quantification for diluted samples (n=3).27Figure 9. Calibration curve for phosphate concentration (n=3).28Figure 10. SDS-PAGE of cell-free extract. Separation achieved in 15% PA gel. In lane 1: molecular weight marker with myosin (200 kDa), β-galactosidase (116 kDa), phosphorylase B (97 kDa), albumin (66 kDa), glutamic 	after the staining with DAPI (4',6-diamidino-2-phenylindole). Isolates 3P
 Figure 7. BSA calibration curve for protein quantification (n=3). 27 Figure 8. BSA calibration curve for protein quantification for diluted samples (n=3). 27 Figure 9. Calibration curve for phosphate concentration (n=3). 28 Figure 10. SDS-PAGE of cell-free extract. Separation achieved in 15% PA gel. In lane 1: molecular weight marker with myosin (200 kDa), β-galactosidase (116 kDa), phosphorylase B (97 kDa), albumin (66 kDa), glutamic dehydrogenase (55 kDa), ovalbumin (45 kDa), glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase (36 kDa), carbonic anhydrase (29 kDa), trypsinogen (24 kDa), trypsin inhibitor (20 kDa), α-lactalbumin (14.2 kDa), aprotinin (6.5 kDa) as standards; lane 2: crude extract after sonication; lane 3: solvent precipitation fraction. 31 Figure 11. Proposed activity of the novel enzyme. 32 Figure 12. Specific activity of CE incubated at 30°C at different pH values; results are the mean of two independent assays. 33 Figure 13. Specific activity of cell-free extract incubated at pH 8.0 at different 	and 7P as negative controls
 Figure 8. BSA calibration curve for protein quantification for diluted samples (n=3)	Figure 7. BSA calibration curve for protein quantification (n=3)
 (n=3)	Figure 8. BSA calibration curve for protein quantification for diluted samples
 Figure 9. Calibration curve for phosphate concentration (n=3)	(n=3)
 Figure 10. SDS-PAGE of cell-free extract. Separation achieved in 15% PA gel. In lane 1: molecular weight marker with myosin (200 kDa), β-galactosidase (116 kDa), phosphorylase B (97 kDa), albumin (66 kDa), glutamic dehydrogenase (55 kDa), ovalbumin (45 kDa), glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase (36 kDa), carbonic anhydrase (29 kDa), trypsinogen (24 kDa), trypsin inhibitor (20 kDa), α-lactalbumin (14.2 kDa), aprotinin (6.5 kDa) as standards; lane 2: crude extract after sonication; lane 3: solvent precipitation fraction	Figure 9. Calibration curve for phosphate concentration (n=3)
 lane 1: molecular weight marker with myosin (200 kDa), β-galactosidase (116 kDa), phosphorylase B (97 kDa), albumin (66 kDa), glutamic dehydrogenase (55 kDa), ovalbumin (45 kDa), glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase (36 kDa), carbonic anhydrase (29 kDa), trypsinogen (24 kDa), trypsin inhibitor (20 kDa), α-lactalbumin (14.2 kDa), aprotinin (6.5 kDa) as standards; lane 2: crude extract after sonication; lane 3: solvent precipitation fraction	Figure 10. SDS-PAGE of cell-free extract. Separation achieved in 15% PA gel. In
 (116 kDa), phosphorylase B (97 kDa), albumin (66 kDa), glutamic dehydrogenase (55 kDa), ovalbumin (45 kDa), glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase (36 kDa), carbonic anhydrase (29 kDa), trypsinogen (24 kDa), trypsin inhibitor (20 kDa), α-lactalbumin (14.2 kDa), aprotinin (6.5 kDa) as standards; lane 2: crude extract after sonication; lane 3: solvent precipitation fraction	lane 1: molecular weight marker with myosin (200 kDa), β-galactosidase
 dehydrogenase (55 kDa), ovalbumin (45 kDa), glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase (36 kDa), carbonic anhydrase (29 kDa), trypsinogen (24 kDa), trypsin inhibitor (20 kDa), α-lactalbumin (14.2 kDa), aprotinin (6.5 kDa) as standards; lane 2: crude extract after sonication; lane 3: solvent precipitation fraction	(116 kDa), phosphorylase B (97 kDa), albumin (66 kDa), glutamic
 phosphate dehydrogenase (36 kDa), carbonic anhydrase (29 kDa), trypsinogen (24 kDa), trypsin inhibitor (20 kDa), α-lactalbumin (14.2 kDa), aprotinin (6.5 kDa) as standards; lane 2: crude extract after sonication; lane 3: solvent precipitation fraction	dehydrogenase (55 kDa), ovalbumin (45 kDa), glyceraldehyde-3-
 trypsinogen (24 kDa), trypsin inhibitor (20 kDa), α-lactalbumin (14.2 kDa), aprotinin (6.5 kDa) as standards; lane 2: crude extract after sonication; lane 3: solvent precipitation fraction	phosphate dehydrogenase (36 kDa), carbonic anhydrase (29 kDa),
aprotinin (6.5 kDa) as standards; lane 2: crude extract after sonication; lane 3: solvent precipitation fraction	trypsinogen (24 kDa), trypsin inhibitor (20 kDa), α-lactalbumin (14.2 kDa),
 3: solvent precipitation fraction	aprotinin (6.5 kDa) as standards; lane 2: crude extract after sonication; lane
Figure 11. Proposed activity of the novel enzyme.32Figure 12. Specific activity of CE incubated at 30°C at different pH values; results are the mean of two independent assays.33Figure 13. Specific activity of cell-free extract incubated at pH 8.0 at different	3: solvent precipitation fraction
 Figure 12. Specific activity of CE incubated at 30°C at different pH values; results are the mean of two independent assays	Figure 11. Proposed activity of the novel enzyme
are the mean of two independent assays	Figure 12. Specific activity of CE incubated at 30°C at different pH values: results
Figure 13. Specific activity of cell-free extract incubated at pH 8.0 at different	are the mean of two independent assays
	Figure 13. Specific activity of cell-free extract incubated at pH 8.0 at different
temperatures, results are the mean of two independent assays	temperatures, results are the mean of two independent assays
temperatures results are the mean of two independent assays 34	Figure 13. Specific activity of cell-free extract incubated at pH 8.0 at different temperatures, results are the mean of two independent assays

SYMBOLS AND ABBREVIATIONS

- AMPA Aminomethylphosphonic acid
- BSA Bovine Serum Albumin
- FAD Flavin Adenine Dinucleotide
- GOX Glyphosate Oxidoreductase
- GP Glyphosate
- LB Luria Bertani
- MMM Minimal Mineral Medium
- MPn Methylphosphonate
- MWCO Molecular Weight Cut-Off
- OD Optical Density
- rpm Revolutions per minute
- t Tonnes

CHAPTER 1

INTRODUCTION AND JUSTIFICATION

1.1 Introduction

Agriculture has been one of the most essential activities of humankind throughout history. The current agriculture model relies on the intensive use of fertilizers, insecticides, fungicides, and herbicides (Sosa et al., 2019). Since the middle of the twentieth century, the use of herbicides for weed control has played an important role in improving crop productivity (Clapp, 2021). In this context, during the 1970s, Monsanto introduced the use of glyphosate (GP), an organophosphorus molecule (Székács & Darvas, 2012), which has become the most intensively used herbicide around the globe since the introduction of GP-tolerant crops in the nineties (Benbrook, 2016; Gillezeau et al., 2019; Székács & Darvas, 2012). GP belongs to a class of compounds called phosphonates, characterized by a carbon-to-phosphorus (C-P) bond that provides the molecule with relatively high degradation resistance (Schowanek & Verstraete, 1990).



Figure 1. Chemical structure of glyphosate (in grey: carbon, white: hydrogen, red: oxygen, blue: nitrogen, orange: phosphorous).

After the expiration of Monsanto's patent in 2000, several companies began to develop generic products at a lower cost, with China as the biggest producer and exporter of GP. China alone can produce enough GP to satisfy the global demand even if all other manufacturers cease production (Bravo & Naranjo, 2016; Székács & Darvas, 2012).

Initially, GP was presented as a benevolent product that will not persist in soil and will only affect plants, as it inhibits the 5-enolpyruvylshikimate-3phosphate synthase (EPSPS) enzyme found in the shikimic acid pathway that governs essential metabolic processes in plants, fungi, and some bacteria (Myers et al., 2016; Werner et al., 2021). GP was considered harmless to humans because of the absence of this pathway in mammals (Werner et al., 2021). However, recent studies have shown the possible long-term low-level effects of GP in humans as a carcinogenic, endocrine disruptor, or neurotoxic substance (Peillex & Pelletier, 2020; Richmond, 2018). In this sense, the International Agency for Research on Cancer (IARC) from the World Health Organization (WHO) has recognized GP as part of Group 2A, substances considered "probably carcinogenic to humans" after the revision of several publicly available studies (Bravo & Naranjo, 2016; IARC, 2017). After the resolution from IARC, the opinions have been divided, with agribusiness declaring opposition to IARC's conclusions (Gillezeau et al., 2019; Richmond, 2018). IARC also informed that all decisions respecting legislation or regulation about GP are the responsibility of each agency and government (Richmond, 2018). Thus, governments around the world have

taken restrictive actions to reduce GP consumption to protect their populations (Bravo & Naranjo, 2016).

The Mexican government adopted a total ban on GP to control these adverse effects. An official decree was initially published on December 31, 2020, declaring that Mexico will gradually avoid all use, distribution, and importation of GP, achieving a total transition from GP to ecological alternatives by 2024; simultaneously, the use of genetically modified (GM) maize was prohibited (Alcántara-de la Cruz et al., 2021; DOF, 2020). After several economic and political issues between the US and Mexican governments, a new decree was published in February 2023, where the ban on GP was maintained. Still, GM maize was regulated for industrial use and prohibited for human consumption (DOF, 2023). The Consejo Nacional de Humanidades, Ciencia y Tecnología (CONAHCyT), published every year, after the decree, the recommendation for the importation of GP, having for 2022: a maximum of 8 263.1 t of formulated GP and a maximum of 628.6 t of technical GP, a 50% reduction compared with 2021 (CONAHCyT, 2022).

Despite governments' efforts, GP's presence is widespread in different ecosystems. This extensive distribution indistinctly affects humans, animals, nontarget plants, and microorganisms. It has been reported that GP reduces the microbial richness of the soil, affecting plants also by increasing phytopathogen populations. Other examples are the alteration of trophic chains due to behavioral and reproductive changes in organisms like earthworms and honeybees, the surge of resistant weeds, and the toxic effects of GP in marine organisms and

ecosystems (Richmond, 2018). GP has been detected in diverse matrixes such as soil, foods, surface, and groundwater, even in human fluids such as blood, urine, and breast milk. As a result, it has portrayed a warning about the exposition that the planet has suffered because of the intensive use of this herbicide and urges to evaluate levels of GP in the population and ecosystems regularly (Benbrook, 2016; Gillezeau et al., 2019; Lozano-Kasten et al., 2021; Rendón-Von Osten & Dzul-Caamal, 2017). Urinary levels of GP in humans show values of 0.26–73.5 µg/L in exposed workers and 0.16–7.6 µg/L in the general population, reinforcing the evidence of the ubiquitous presence of GP. Nevertheless, standardized studies are still required to confirm this data (Gillezeau et al., 2019).

To date, there is no standardized process to remediate the environmental effects of GP. It is, therefore, necessary to take advantage of the biological resources available for their elimination. In this sense, it is known that in bacteria, there are two major pathways for the biodegradation of GP: (1) C-P lyase (E.C. 4.7.1.1) complex, and (2) GP oxidoreductase (GOX, E.C. 1.5.3.23) pathway. C-P lyase is rarely active because it requires a state of inorganic phosphate (Pi) starvation, and the GOX pathway, even when high Pi levels do not hinder it, produces aminomethylphosphonic acid (AMPA) provoking secondary contamination (Singh et al., 2020). Recent studies from our laboratory revealed the existence of a new enzyme independent of Pi concentration that does not produce AMPA as a contaminant by-product. Therefore, it has shown a real potential to be used in the bioremediation of GP.

1.2 Project Justification

Considering the pollution caused by the intensive use of GP in the past decades and the absence of any process for GP elimination, the urgent need to offer options for environmental remediation to reduce the presence of this herbicide in ecosystems is undoubtedly reinforced.

Although there is research on the biodegradation of GP using microorganisms, it is notorious that its application *in situ* is still complex due to the factors involved in microbial control, mainly due to high levels of phosphate in the environment. This project will allow us to isolate a new enzyme of bacterial origin that can biodegrade GP by an alternative pathway to C-P lyase, independent of phosphate levels, which could offer a bioremediation tool with more practical application.

CHAPTER 2

LITERATURE REVIEW

2.1 Phosphonates

Phosphoric acids or phosphonates are organophosphorus compounds characterized by the presence of the C-P bond, which gives the molecule stability and resistance against hydrolysis, whilst the phosphonyl moiety mimics several chemical states of enzymatic by-products (Engel, 1977; Horsman & Zechel, 2017). The phosphonate portion also provides bioactivity; therefore, the use of phosphonates is extended in the industry as antibiotics (White & Metcalf, 2007), lubricants, flame extinguishers (Sviridov et al., 2011), herbicides or chelates (Nowack, 2003). The same moiety serves as a source of Pi for several microorganisms that have developed the molecular machinery to cleavage the C-P bond (Horsman & Zechel, 2017). Phosphonates have natural and anthropogenic origins, with GP as an example of a synthetic phosphonate (Nowack, 2003).

2.2 Glyphosate in Mexico

Agriculture has been closely related to the development of Mexico since before the Spanish colonization, and nowadays, it represents a significant input to the country's economic sector (SADER, 2023). With more than 43 thousand T of pesticide use reported for the FAOSTAT, Mexico has the highest pesticide use in Central America, with herbicides as the second most used after fungicides and bactericides (FAO, 2023). However, there is no information about the active ingredients used per category, which complicates the analysis of the actual impacts of such usage.

Even without exact numbers on the use of GP, it is known that the majority corresponds to unjustified use in crops that are not GP-resistant and the illegal distribution of GP-resistant crops in the country (Alcántara-de la Cruz et al., 2021). Since 2020, the Mexican government applied actions to achieve a total ban on GP use and commercialization by March 2024 (DOF, 2023). Since then, several agencies implied in the federal administration have applied efforts to find agroecological alternatives to the use of GP (González-Moscoso et al., 2023). However, various concerns are presented yet to control the use and distribution of herbicides and pesticides in the national territory, primarily due to long-standing issues such as the decentralization of the legal framework for pesticide regulation (Albert, 2019) and smuggling (OECD, 2021). Also, the general disinformation of the population and underestimation of the risks play an essential role in the routine use of these substances.

Despite the conscious actions taken by the Mexican government to decrease the exposure of the population to GP, the system indeed lacks certainty to assert that the objective is being achieved in its entirety; also, the effects of GP will not disappear as swiftly as desired when the total ban on the substance comes into force in 2024. Considering the extensive distribution of GP reported in diverse

matrixes, including food for human consumption, it is vital to ensure actions from every sector (academic, scientific, medical, governmental) oriented to mitigate or eradicate the long-term affectations of GP as the one proposed in this study.

2.3 Microbial Glyphosate Biodegradation

The pure compound GP presents low toxicity both orally and dermally, but commercial GP formulations make the mechanisms of toxicity complex (Bradberry et al., 2007). As mentioned before, the intensive and neglected use of GP has rendered a ubiquitous presence of the herbicide in the environment. Hence, it is necessary to intervene to solve the adverse effects of GP and its metabolites; a viable option is using microbial enzymes to biodegrade GP.

In the case of bacteria, the most extended active pathway for GP biodegradation is the GOX pathway, where GP cleaves at the C-N bond, producing glyoxylic acid and AMPA (Figure 2). GOX is an enzyme usually independent of the Pi levels but dependent on FAD as a cofactor (Habte & Beyene, 2020). Most of the time, AMPA is not mineralized for the bacteria and is excreted into the environment. When AMPA is further metabolized in bacteria, the enzyme responsible for the transformation is C-P lyase (Singh et al., 2020; Sviridov et al., 2015); AMPA exhibits a higher toxicity and half-life time in soil than GP itself [up to 958 days and up to 197 days, respectively (Ojelade et al., 2022; Tresnakova et al., 2021)]. Also, it has been demonstrated that GP and AMPA can be bioaccumulated in biofilms in concentrations 2 to 4 orders of magnitude higher

than the surrounding water in systems like wetlands, promoting the availability of these pollutants to the trophic chains (Beecraft & Rooney, 2021).



Figure 2. Bacterial pathways for glyphosate biodegradation.

The second major pathway is the C-P lyase complex, in which the C-P bond is cleaved, generating sarcosine and Pi (Figure 2). However, this pathway is active only when Pi concentration is <4 μ M, a rare condition to be found in nature; also, its activity has been reported to be associated with the cell membrane and is not highly specific for GP (Singh et al., 2020).

2.3.1 C-P Lyase Isolation

Evidence about the mechanism for the C-P cleavage in a variety of phosphonates (including the positive biodegradation of GP) was provided by Wackett et al. (1987), using the *Agrobacterium radiobacter* strain as a model. Subsequent studies showed that the enzymatic activity of C-P lyase was lost upon

the destruction of the cell membrane, so it was deduced that it is a membraneassociated enzyme (Stosiek et al., 2019).

Since then, multiple studies have demonstrated the ability of C-P lyase to metabolize natural and synthetic phosphonates, including GP. The most studied C-P lyase comes from *E. coli*, known to be the product of 14 operon genes [*phnCDEFGHIJKLMNOP* (Singh et al., 2020)]. In 1990, it was demonstrated that the expression of this complex was independent of earlier exposure to phosphonates and confirmed the correlation between the presence of C-P lyase activity and low Pi levels available for the microorganisms (Schowanek & Verstraete, 1990). Among the species that could consume GP were *Arthrobacter* sp. GLP-1, *Pseudomonas* sp. G2982 and *Alcaligenes eutrophus*.

Selvapandiyan and Bhatnagar (1994) reported partially purifying a C-P lyase enzyme from a *Pseudomonas* sp. GLC11, cultured in a GP concentration of up to 125 mM. The molecular mass of the enzyme was estimated at *ca.* 200 kDa and presented activity for GP and AMPA. The enzyme presented an unstable activity, and stabilizing it was impossible. This portrayed an example of the activity loss due to the complex C-P lyase forming part of the cell membrane.

In 2013, Kamat *et al.* elucidated for the first time the crucial role of PhnJ as the catalytic center of a C-P lyase from E. coli using methyl phosphonate as a substrate (Kamat et al., 2013). Later, Selvi and Manonmani (2015) published the purification and characterization of an enzyme from *Pseudomonas putida* T5 supplied with 10 ppm of GP for 72 h. The biodegradation of GP was confirmed through sarcosine production using the purified enzyme. Conditions for the enzymatic activity used 50 mM of phosphate buffer (pH 7.0) and 60 μ M of GP. The molecular mass of the purified enzyme was a monomer of 70 kDa, and its optimal pH and temperature were around 7.0 and 30 °C, respectively. The loss in enzyme activity was presented with an increase in temperature. This would represent the first report of a pure and active C-P lyase against GP.

2.3.2 GOX Reports

Despite all the studies on microorganisms demonstrating C-P lyase activity on GP, no biotechnological process has been developed. This may be due to the negative effect of phosphate on the enzymatic activity. Nevertheless, some microorganisms possess unique alternative metabolic pathways for GP metabolization.

Since the 1980s, several studies have deepened their knowledge of the GOX pathway, referring to microorganisms capable of biodegrading GP while producing AMPA. For example, Sviridov et al., (2012) studied the phosphonate catabolism in *Ochrobactrum anthropi* GPK 3 and reported the ability of this strain to degrade GP via C-P lyase and a novel enzyme called GOX. This phenomenon was also present in *Bacillus cereus* CB4 (Fan et al., 2012). On the other hand, some authors have reported the use of the GOX pathway for GP degradation in several strains, i.e., *Providencia rettgeri*, which can tolerate high concentrations of GP (>120,000 mg/L), showing a 71.4% degradation in 24 h at 10,000 mg/L GP (Xu et al., 2019); and *Ochrobactrum* sp. GDOS can degrade GP in the presence

of phosphate but releases AMPA to the supernatant (Hadi et al., 2013). Another study reported that *Bacillus aryabhattai* FACU3 could grow in concentrations of GP up to 250 mg/mL and expressed a FAD-dependent GOX-like protein (Elarabi et al., 2020). All these studies show the potential of several strains to be applied for the bioremediation of highly GP-contaminated matrixes but with the unfortunate release of AMPA.

2.3.3 Enzyme Prospects

New studies from our research group have demonstrated the existence of a novel enzyme that can degrade GP without releasing AMPA. Acosta-Cortés et al. (2019) published the capacity of the *Bacillus cereus* 6P strain native to Nuevo León to degrade GP by cleavage of the C-P bond and use the Pi as a source for the accumulation of intracellular polyphosphate (polyP) and even release Pi into the medium reaching concentrations higher than 30 μ M. The later evidence opposes the typical mechanism of C-P lyase. A BLAST analysis did not find C-P lyase homology, suggesting the existence of another enzyme able to catabolize GP by C-P scission independently of Pi levels. The authors also propose developing a biotechnological process with economic and environmental connotations that allow the association of bioremediation of ecosystems with the production of polyP that could serve as a renewable source of phosphorus.

Additionally, Martínez Ledezma (2019) reported the ability of the same strain to biodegrade GP by an alternative pathway to C-P lyase independent of Pi levels. He probed the absence of C-P lyase's genetic catalytic component (*phnJ*) by molecular analysis, which would theoretically make it impossible for this strain to degrade the herbicide by C-P cleavage. The study also confirmed the capacity of the strain to accumulate polyP when using GP as the sole phosphorus source, reaffirming the enzyme's ability to attack the C-P bond of GP. Acute toxicity bioassays in *E. putida* exposed to the exhausted culture medium showed no affectations to the worms and increased offspring compared to the control, as a correlation to the production of non-harmful by-products from the enzymatic activity on GP contrary to the AMPA production of GOX. Finally, the enzyme was reported to be in the cell's cytoplasm, which also differs from the typical C-P lyase complex attached to the membrane, suggesting that further isolation and characterization of the enzyme can be addressed.

Every pathway for GP biodegradation has significant ecological and biotechnological implications. Research in these areas continues to advance our understanding of phosphorus cycling and the metabolism of organophosphorus compounds like GP, with potential applications in industry, agriculture, bioremediation, and environmental science.

CHAPTER 3

HYPOTHESIS AND OBJECTIVES

3.1 Hypothesis

A cytoplasmic enzyme isolated from *Bacillus cereus* 6P can biodegrade glyphosate.

3.2 General Objective

This study aims to identify and characterize an enzyme from *Bacillus cereus* 6P responsible for glyphosate's biodegradation by an alternative pathway to C-P lyase, independent of phosphate levels in the environment.

3.3 Specific Objectives

- 1. To reactivate the strain *Bacillus cereus* 6P.
- 2. To produce and semi-purify the enzyme responsible for glyphosate biodegradation.
- To evaluate the enzymatic reaction conditions (such as temperature and pH) for glyphosate biodegradation by the cell-free extracts.

CHAPTER 4

METHODOLOGY

This project was executed in the Laboratorio de Procesos Microbiológicos in the Centro de Investigación en Biotecnología y Nanotecnología (CIBYN). The laboratory provided all the necessary materials, reagents, and equipment.

4.1 Strain Reactivation and Preservation

Bacillus cereus 6P strain was obtained from the Laboratorio de Procesos Microbiológicos in CIBYN. Its reactivation was performed by culture in non-selective nutrient media, such as LB broth or nutrient broth. These were incubated in aerobic conditions for 24 h at 28°C with constant agitation of 150 rpm. For long-term preservation, 400 μ L of the *B. cereus* 6P culture was added to a polypropylene microtube, and 600 μ L of sterile 50% glycerol solution was added immediately; the solution was homogenized by hand and stored at -20°C until further use.

4.2 Production of the Enzyme

4.2.1 Growth Kinetics of the Strain

Knowing the capacity of *B. cereus* 6P to biodegrade GP, the behaviour of the strain at standard and stressful nutrient conditions was determined. Growth kinetic in LB broth and MMM (1 mM GP as the sole P source) were assayed. An initial 0.05 OD inoculum (620 nm) was incubated for 72 h for LB broth and 120 h for MMM at 28 °C and constant agitation of 150 rpm. Samples of 1 mL of culture were taken, and its OD at 620 nm was registered. For LB medium, samples were taken each 2 h for the first 18 h and approximately each 8 h afterwards. For MMM, samples were taken each 2 h for the first 12 h and then each 8-16 h. Values of time vs OD were graphed and compared. Assays were run in triplicate.

4.2.1.1 Nile Red Staining to Determine the Production of PHA.

To confirm the presence of nutritional stress in the bacterial cells, detection tests for polyhydroxyalkanoates (PHA) were performed. This was done by Nile red staining of 1 mL of sample, which was centrifuged for 5 minutes at 13 000 rpm. The supernatant was discarded, and 30 μ L of 1% Nile red solution was added. The mixture was incubated for 10 min in a 55°C water bath. After this time, the pellet was washed to remove excess dye and resuspended in saline for smearing. This was observed under a DM-3000 fluorescence microscope (Leica Microsystems) using a Texas red filter (excitation λ = 553 nm, and emission λ =636 nm).

4.2.2 Culture Conditions to Produce the Enzyme

Modified growth conditions proposed by Martínez Ledezma (2019) were used. The initial inoculum consisted of MMM-washed cells from an initial 100 mL LB broth culture in the *log* phase. Cells were added in MMM containing 10 mM sodium acetate ($C_2H_3NaO_2$) as a carbon source, 4 mM ammonium chloride (NH₄Cl) as a nitrogen source, and 1 mM GP as the sole phosphorus source. The culture was incubated at 28 °C and 150 rpm for at least 120 h.

4.2.3 Obtention of the Enzyme

Cell-free extract. Cells were separated from the MMM broth by centrifugation at 7830 rpm, at 4 °C for 10 min. The supernatant was discarded, and cells were washed twice in 50 mM Tris-HCI (pH 7). Cells were resuspended in 50 mM Tris-HCI (pH 7) and sonicated in a Fisher Scientific FB120 sonicator at 80 % amplitude for 15 min (30 seconds pulse, 60 seconds break), always maintaining an ice bath. The homogenate was centrifuged for 10 min at 7830 rpm, at 4 °C; the supernatant was recovered and designated as crude extract (CE).

Solvent precipitation. CE was precipitated using a modified protocol from von der Haar (2019) to eliminate the contaminating free Pi in the samples. A known volume of protein solution was added to a polypropylene tube. Then, 4 volumes of ethanol were added and vortexed, and 1 volume of chloroform was added and vortexed. Immediately, 3 volumes of water were added to the tube, vortexed, and centrifuged at 7197 ×g, at 4°C for 10 min. After the centrifugation,

without disturbing the interface, the upper aqueous phase was carefully discarded, and 3 volumes of ethanol were added, vortexed, and centrifuged at 7197 ×g, at 4°C for 15 min. Finally, all liquid was discarded, and the pellet dried at room temperature for several minutes. Once dried, proteins were stored at -20 $^{\circ}$ C until further use.

4.2.4 Protein Quantification

Protein concentration was measured using Bradford's Method with BSA as a standard protein. Samples of 100 μ L of protein solution were added to 1 mL of Bradford's reagent, incubated 10-20 min at room temperature, and absorbance at 595 nm was registered in a Cary 50 spectrophotometer.

For highly diluted samples, a microplate Bradford assay was used: 50 μ L of the sample was mixed with 250 μ L of Bradford's reagent, incubated at room temperature for 10 min, and absorbance at 620 nm was registered in a microplate absorbance reader Accuris Smartreader 96, using BSA as the standard protein for the measurement of the calibration curve.

4.2.5 Protein Visualization by Polyacrylamide Gel Electrophoresis (PAGE)

The proteins obtained from each step of the semi-purification process were subjected to SDS-PAGE to determine their homogeneity and estimate their molecular mass. SDS-PAGE was performed on a 15% polyacrylamide gel. Proteins were stained with an EZBlue staining reagent, and SigmaMarker[™] wide range (Sigma-Aldrich) was used as the molecular weight marker.

4.3 Characterization of Enzymatic Reaction

4.3.1 Enzymatic Assay

Two modifications of the Method from Sviridov et al. (2012) were followed to evaluate the enzymatic activity (final volume of 80 μ L). The first method used a reaction mixture containing 50 mM Tris-HCl, 10 mM MgCl₂, 10 μ M FAD, 35 μ M GP, and protein extract. In the second method, FAD was excluded. Samples were incubated for 1 h at 30 °C.

The decrease in the concentration of GP was determined indirectly by quantification of equimolar Pi release from the GP molecule after the cleavage of the C-P bond. According to the provider's instructions, this was achieved using the Green Malachite Assay (Sigma Aldrich). One unit (U) of activity was defined as the release of 1 μ M of Pi·min⁻¹. The preparation of a phosphate calibration curve ranging from 0 to 40 μ M was held; 80 μ L of reaction mixture was transferred into separate wells of a multiwell plate, and 20 μ L of Working Reagent (WR) was added to each well (stopping the reaction). The microplate was incubated for 30 minutes in the dark at room temperature for colour development. Absorbance at 620 nm was measured in a microplate absorbance reader Accuris Smartreader 96.

Effects of pH. Enzymatic activity as a function of pH was determined using 50 mM Tris-HCl buffer with pH values of 7, 8, and 9 incubating for 1 h at 30 °C.

Effects of temperature. Enzymatic activity as a function of temperature was determined by incubating for 1 h at ideal pH at temperatures ranging from 30 °C to 45 °C.

4.4 DISPOSAL OF GENERATED WASTE

All waste generated was classified according to the hazardous waste classification procedures document PR-CLB-SRR/000 of the Facultad de Ciencias Químicas established by the institution's Waste Management and Control Department.

CHAPTER 5

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

5.1 ENZYME PRODUCTION

5.1.1 Growth Kinetics of the Strain

B. cereus 6P was reactivated using a non-selective media to obtain fresh high OD cultures. Then, the growth kinetics of the strain were determined in two mediums (LB broth and MMM) to compare the development of the bacteria in a nutrient-rich medium and a challenging medium with the herbicide as the sole source of phosphorus (P), a well-known growth-limiting nutrient (White & Metcalf, 2007). This xenobiotic promotes stressful conditions for the microorganism, forcing it to express genes to produce a GP-degrading enzyme capable of cleaving the C-P bond in the herbicide molecule.

Figure 3a shows the enormous difference between the growth reached in each media. In the case of LB broth, the lag phase was almost nonexistent as the inoculum had already been adapted to this medium. In less than 24 h, the OD suffered a drastic decrease due to culture death. Still, in the following hours, the culture increased the OD anew, where the remaining cells were adapting to harsh conditions and nutrient depletion in the medium.



Figure 3. (a) Growth kinetics of *B*. cereus 6P in MMM and LB broth (n=3). Samples with absorbance higher than 1.0 were calculated using serial dilutions; (b) PHA granules detected in *B*. cereus 6P using Nile red staining after 72 h incubated in LB broth. Objective 100x.

Samples of the LB culture at 72 h showed the presence of PHA granules after the Nile Red staining (Figure 3b), indicative of the adaptative metabolism to nutrient stress (depletion of essential nutrients in the face of excess carbon) reached after the high consumption in the log phase of the strain. Similar growth behaviour was reported by Yasin and Al-Mayaly (2021) during the fermentation of glucose by *B. cereus* ARY73 to produce PHA. The PHA production by *B. cereus* has been extensively reported in diverse mediums varying the carbon source and ratio of essential nutrients (Halami, 2008; Maheshwari et al., 2018; Mizuno et al., 2010; Tsuge et al., 2015).

For the MMM culture, at approximately 100 h, a slight increase in OD was observed (Figure 3a); this coincided with the results of Martínez Ledezma (2019), indicating the adaptation of the bacterium to the adverse conditions and the expression of the metabolic machinery necessary to metabolize the herbicide to obtain the essential P. Similar results were reported for GP pre-conditioned *Lysinibacillus sphaericus* cultures (González-Valenzuela & Dussán, 2018), where

the principal difference is that their lag time was shorter than the one reported in studies from our laboratory, as a consequence of the pre-condition at the herbicide. The reduction in OD in MMM compared to LB broth is greater than 90%, but the strain can survive and grow in such conditions.

B. cereus 6P has been demonstrated to metabolise GP, taking advantage of the Pi produced to accumulate polyP while not producing polyhydroxyalkanoates (PHA) under such conditions (Acosta-Cortés et al., 2019). The above denotes that, despite the stress, the bacterium is not compromising its development, known that PHA production is regularly activated as a survival measure under adverse conditions (Zuriari et al., 2013).

Previous studies by Martínez Ledezma (2019) and Acosta-Cortés et al. (2019) with 6P strain showed that it does not have the genes for the expression of the catalytic part of C-P lyase, supporting the notion that another enzyme is responsible for cleaving the C-P bond. Furthermore, the production of Pi, which is indicative of such cleavage, supports the fact that a GOX enzyme, which produces AMPA instead, is also not responsible for the degradation of the pesticide.

5.1.2 Culture Conditions to Produce the Enzyme

Figure 4 shows the regular rod-shaped morphology of *B. cereus* 6P. This gram-positive bacterium was 1-1.5 μ m in diameter and 3-5 μ m long when cultured in LB medium.



Figure 4. Gram staining of B. cereus 6P (24 h in LB broth). Objective 100x.

During the culture of *B. cereus* 6P in MMM, morphological changes attributed to the nutritional stress to which the bacteria are subjected were observed. Pi is a necessary component for the metabolic processes of all living cells, growth being one of the most notorious (Vera et al., 2008; White & Metcalf, 2007). Therefore, limiting its environmental availability is expected to decrease cell growth.

In Figure 5b, the same bacteria cultured for several days in MMM containing GP showed changes in its dimensions and capacity to retain staining reagents, maybe because the rinse of reagents was severe enough to sweep almost all the outer membrane of the significantly smaller cells. The rod shape was shortened several times until the cell looked almost round. The decrease in size was observed to be more noticeable as the days of culture progressed (Figure 5a-b).



Figure 5. Gram staining of *B.* cereus 6*P.* Comparison between (a) 120 h in MMM and (b) 210 h in MMM. Objective 100x (both).

Additionally, the production of polyP in *B. cereus* 6P cultured in the presence of 1 mM GP (Figure 6) can be contrasted with the results of *Acidithiobacillus ferrooxidans* cultured in the presence of 1 mM of methyl phosphonate (M-Pn) as sole source of P, in both cases, the bacteria were able to degrade the Pn to use it as P source, but in the case of *A. ferrooxidans* the pool of polyP was consumed during the incubation process to promote growth, whilst *B. cereus*' pool of polyP is increased (Acosta-Cortés et al., 2019; Vera et al., 2008).



Figure 6. DAPI staining for polyP evaluation after 120 h of incubation on MMM (Acosta-Cortés et al., 2019). PolyP is observed as yellow-green granules after the staining with DAPI (4',6-diamidino-2-phenylindole). Isolates 3P and 7P were used as negative controls.

These results are comparable to recent studies with a *P. putida* strain grown on MS1 minimal medium supplemented with GP (500 mg/L) as a P source, where the authors observed similar morphological changes in the rod shape of the bacteria. Other study results showed that P. putida Ch2 accumulated PHA granules under these culture conditions (Esikova et al., 2023), contrasting with the behaviour of *B. cereus* 6P.

All the results mentioned above are a great example of this strain's metabolic plasticity (Martínez-Herrera et al., 2023), allowing it to adapt to several conditions, including a high-stress environment and produce metabolites of human interest.

5.1.3 Protein and Phosphate Quantification

Total protein (TP) measurement was performed using Bradford's method to determine the protein concentration in the cell-free extracts. Two main calibration curves were performed. The first was achieved using a standard working range of 0.05 to 0.5 mg/mL of BSA (Figure 7). For this method, the absorbance was registered at 595 nm.



Figure 7. BSA calibration curve for protein quantification (n=3).

A second curve was performed to quantify significantly diluted samples, with a calibration curve ranging from 0.01 to 1.0 μ g de BSA in a 50 μ L sample. For this calibration curve, absorbance was registered at 620 nm (Figure 8).



Figure 8. BSA calibration curve for protein quantification for diluted samples (n=3).

To proceed with the Pi quantification in the extracts, the colourimetric Malachite Green Phosphate Assay Kit (MAK307, Sigma-Aldrich) was used, where

a green complex is formed between Malachite Green, molybdate, and free Pi. A calibration curve for phosphate concentration was performed in a working range of 4 to 40 µM according to the provider's instructions (Figure 9). All materials and reagents were assayed to verify that no contaminating Pi was present.



Figure 9. Calibration curve for phosphate concentration (n=3).

5.1.4 Obtention of the Enzyme and Elimination of Contaminating Pi

After analyzing the morphology of 6P cells on GP-rich MMM, the cell lysis of 210 h cultures was performed to obtain the intracellular content. Martínez Ledezma (2019) reports the potential localization of the enzyme. The pelleted cells from the MMM culture were sonicated in 50 mM Tris-HCl (pH 7). The homogenate was centrifuged for 10 min at 7830 rpm, at 4 °C to eliminate cell debris; the clear supernatant was recovered and designated as crude extract (CE). Studies report the optimal intracellular Pi concentration for procaryotic cells such as *E. coli* to be between 1 and 10 mM (McCleary, 2017). The Pi concentration of CE from *B. cereus* 6P (173.13 μ M) was several times lower than those optimal concentrations; this could be explained by the capability of 6P to rapidly store free Pi as polyP, which makes this resource less available, as observed in these results.

To have another contrast, the normalized free Pi concentration of CE samples was 20,084.7 nM Pi/µg of protein. Results can be compared to a study on *Salmonella enterica* where authors reported a stable intracellular Pi concentration of 1250 nM/µg of protein in a wild-type strain (Pontes & Groisman, 2018). Pi concentration values from the 6P strain are folds-higher than the *S. enterica* strain, depicting the *B. cereus* 6P's capability of continuously uptake Pi from the cleaved GP independent of the environmental Pi concentration and, perhaps, also showed an unstable state of Pi consumption due to active growth at harvest time.

To semi-purify the enzyme, solvent precipitation of CE was performed to eliminate the contaminating Pi present in the extract. During precipitation, the formation of a whitish disc in the interphase of solvents mentioned as a precipitated protein was observed by von der Haar (2019). After the elimination of solvents, such precipitate was distributed in the bottom of the polypropylene tube as fine granules that were stored at -20 °C until further use. Total dryness of the granules was avoided to facilitate later resuspension of the protein (Scopes, 1982).

All samples assayed after sonication (CE) presented less than 1.0 mg/mL of TP. After protein precipitation, the resuspension of the protein pellet in 50 mM Tris-HCl pH 7 remained partial even after the addition of several drops of buffer, avoiding high dilution of the proteins. Also, the loss of protein was significant, 88% of initial TP. This result can be compared with reports of Nickerson and Doucette (2020), where a rapid solvent precipitation resulted in recovery of 30% of TP, where results are enhanced after prolonged exposition at temperatures well below 0 °C. Even with the severe loss of protein suffered, this method was preferred over other desalting methods (UF centrifugal devices, liquid chromatography SEC) because the removal of residual Pi showed superior results (Table 1), and the enzymatic assay could be performed.

Method	Initial PO₄ ³⁻ concentration	Pi removal	Observations
UF centrifugal devices 30K MWCO	173.13 μM	<20%	Even though some Pi was washed into the filtrate, most was in the retentate. There was a high protein retention in the membrane.
SEC	173.13 µM	100%	Total elimination of Pi, but the dilution of samples was too high.
Solvent precipitation	173.13 μM	>90%	High loss in TP was obtained, but samples were almost free of residual Pi.

Table 1. Phosphate removal from cell-free extracts using different desalting methods.

The results after the protein precipitation are expected because the ionic strength of the protein mix was drastically changed by the removal of Pi and other salts naturally included in the intracellular content. This suggests that deeper evaluation of the resuspension's conditions can be addressed to enhance the TP

quantification, resulting in a complete resuspended pellet; also, a change in solvents could be evaluated to produce less denaturation of proteins, which is unavoidable in this type of separation method (Scopes, 1982).

To assess the protein profile of the samples (CE and precipitate), 10 µL of each sample was run in an SDS-PAGE using a 15% polyacrylamide (PA) gel for the protein separation. Results are shown in Figure 10. Lane 1 corresponds to SigmaMarker[™] wide range with 12 standard proteins ranging from 6.5 to 200 kDa; lane 2 corresponds to CE, and lane 3 contains the precipitated fraction. It can be observed that all visible bands from CE were conserved and intensified in the protein precipitation. During this study, it was impossible to attribute the enzymatic activity to only a single band or a reduced group of proteins.



Figure 10. SDS-PAGE of cell-free extract. Separation achieved in 15% PA gel. In lane 1: molecular weight marker with myosin (200 kDa), β -galactosidase (116 kDa), phosphorylase B (97 kDa), albumin (66 kDa), glutamic dehydrogenase (55 kDa), ovalbumin (45 kDa), glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase (36 kDa), carbonic anhydrase (29 kDa), trypsinogen (24 kDa), trypsin inhibitor (20 kDa), α -lactalbumin (14.2 kDa), aprotinin (6.5 kDa) as standards; lane 2: crude extract after sonication; lane 3: solvent precipitation fraction.

5.2 CHARACTERIZATION OF ENZYMATIC REACTION

5.2.1 Enzymatic Assay

The cleavage of the C-P bond in GP releases Pi to the reaction mix in an equimolar ratio (Figure 11). Therefore, the concentration of Pi released was an indirect measure of the GP biodegradation.



Figure 11. Proposed activity of the novel enzyme.

Samples of CE and precipitate were assayed to determine the GPdegrading enzymatic activity. Two reaction mixes were used for enzymatic assays, one containing 50 mM Tris-HCl, 10 mM MgCl₂, 35 μ M GP, 10 μ M FAD and protein, and the second where FAD was excluded. The presence of FAD in the reaction mix was to evaluate the possible FAD dependency of the unknown enzyme. Samples were incubated for 1 h at different temperatures and pH values to assess the best conditions to perform the rest of the assays. Proper controls were considered: 1) reaction mix containing every component but protein (negative control), and 2) reaction mix containing every component but GP (negative control). Samples of CE were assayed to evaluate the GP-degrading reaction in both reaction mixes (FAD and No FAD). The final volume of the response was 80 μ L. Reaction mixes at different pH values were incubated for 1 hour at 30 °C. The highest values for specific activity were obtained at pH 8, with values of 27.01 U/mg and 24.98 U/mg for FAD-containing and No FAD media, respectively (Figure 12). These values corresponded to approximately 39.92% and 36.91% of GP degradation for FAD and No FAD media, respectively (Table 2). For both pH 7 and 9, activity values were halved.



Figure 12. The specific activity of CE incubated at 30°C at different pH values; results are the mean of two independent assays.

Table 2. Percentage of GP degradation by CE after	1 h incubation at 30 °C at different pH
values (n=2).	

% GP degradation				
FAD	D Temperature P		pН	
presence	(°C)	7	8	9
+	30	17.99	39.92	18.51
-	30	22.76	36.91	20.93



Figure 13. Specific activity of cell-free extract incubated at pH 8.0 at different temperatures, results are the mean of two independent assays.

% GP degradation					
FAD		Temperature (°C)			
presence	pН	30	37	45	
+	8	39.92	15.50	22.91	
-	8	36.91	18.95	15.50	

Table 3. Percentage of GP degradation by CE after 1 h incubation at pH 8 at different temperature values (n=2).

The reaction was also performed in both media (FAD and No FAD) at pH 8, 1 h incubation at different temperatures: 30, 37, and 45 °C. Results are shown in Figure 13 and Table 3. It is notorious that the specific activity of the CE decayed abruptly at higher temperatures. In the case of the No FAD media, the activity decreased gradually, showing at 45 °C a value of 10.49 U/mg, whilst, in the FAD-containing media, the specific activity at 45 °C showed a slight increase compared with the value at 37 °C, 15.50 U/mg, and 10.48 U/mg, respectively. This could be

attributed to the enhanced thermal stability of the enzymatic activity when FAD acts as a cofactor (Gouda et al., 2003; Pey et al., 2014). However, further analysis of specific activity against the presence of FAD needs to be performed.

These results showed that the activity of the GP-degrading enzyme from *B. cereus* 6P is independent of Pi levels, as the consumption of GP in the MMM culture was active during the harvest of cells. No activity inhibition was detected during the CE assays with high Pi levels. Also, the presence of FAD does not seem necessary for the reaction occurrence because an almost identical pattern of the specific activity was observed in both reaction mixes. This information led me to think that the enzyme of interest is not a GOX-like enzyme, but further molecular determination of the presence of GOX genes would be of much interest to confirm with certainty the total absence of both GP-degrading pathways in *B. cereus* 6P.

A two-factor ANOVA was performed to evaluate whether there were significant statistical differences between the factors pH and the presence of FAD on enzyme activity. The results are presented in Tables 4 and 5. pH value is statistically significant on the enzymatic activity (p=0.034). When comparing the influence of FAD on the enzymatic activity, no significant differences were detected between the assay with FAD and No FAD (p=0.607). There was no statistical significance of temperature and FAD presence on the enzymatic activity (ANOVA not shown).

Summary	Count	Sum	Average	Variance
pH 7	2	40.75	20.375	11.376
pH 8	2	76.83	38.415	4.530
рН 9	2	39.44	19.72	2.928
FAD	3	76.42	25.473	156.597
No FAD	3	80.60	26.866	76.488

Table 4. Summary of factors to evaluate the effects of pH and FAD on the enzymatic activity.

Table 5. ANOVA to evaluate the effects of pH and FAD on the enzymatic activity.

Source of						
Variation	SS	df	MS	F	P-value	F crit
pH	450.249	2	225.125	28.277	0.034	19
FAD/No FAD	2.912	1	2.912	0.366	0.607	18.513
Error	15.922	2	7.961			
Total	469.084	5				

After determining the best-tested temperature and pH conditions to evaluate the enzymatic reaction, the residue was assayed at 30 °C and pH 8 in the reaction mix containing FAD, as shown in Table 6.

Table 6 summarizes the steps in semi-purifying a glyphosate-degrading enzyme from B
cereus 6P. The experiments were assayed in a reaction mix containing FAD.

Step	Total activity (U)	Total protein (mg)	Specific activity (U/mg) *	Purification (fold)	
Crude extract	51.62	1.293	27.02	1.0	
Solvent precipitation	4.39	0.155	28.32	1.05	

* Results of specific activity are the mean of two independent assays.

Although to date there are reports of microorganisms capable of expressing the proteins of the C-P lyase complex, GOX, and even some others

with Pn consumption as Pi source without a specific degradation pathway (Hove-Jensen et al., 2014), this is the first time that a strain of the genus *Bacillus* is reported as capable of degrading GP by direct cleavage of the C-P bond, with no presence of genes for the catalytic fraction of C-P lyase (*phnJ*), and independent of phosphate levels. All evidence contrasts with both C-P lyase and GOX pathways.

Studies mentioning specific activity against GP as a consequence of C-P lyase or GOX action were considered to compare these results with other authors. Selvi and Manonmani (2015) reported the purification of an intracellular C-P lyase from *P. putida* T5 with a specific activity of 0.28 U/mg (same unit as in this study) and 3.775 U/mg for the CE and solvent precipitation, respectively, both values comparably lower than the specific activity from our cell-free extracts. Their reaction mix contained 50 mM phosphate buffer pH 7.0, 60 µM GP, and enzyme. HPLC followed GP degradation after derivatization. The optimal pH and temperature were 7.0 and 30 °C, respectively.

Moreover, their purification steps reported a minimal loss of TP and a purification fold of 627 for the pure enzyme (175.60 U/mg). These authors also stated that the enzyme was a 70 kDa monomer. This is the only report of a purified intracellular C-P lyase enzyme highly active against GP.

A study from Selvapandiyan and Bhatnagar (1994) reported C-P lyase activity for periplasm extracts from two Pseudomonas strains, GLC11 and PG2982. The specific activity for GP degradation in a mix with 50 mM Tris-HCl pH 7.5, 20 mM MgCl₂, and 50 mM was 262 and 280 nmol Pi released hour⁻¹·mg⁻¹ for

GLC11 and PG2982, respectively. Nonetheless, the activity was unstable. In the present study, the highest specific activity value, obtained with FAD, pH 8.0, at 30 °C was 259 nmol Pi released hour⁻¹·mg⁻¹, a close value compared to the C-P lyase from *Pseudomonas* strains.

Studies of enzymatic activity of the GOX are available with values ranging from <3.0 nmol AMPA·min⁻¹·mg⁻¹ to 93 nmol AMPA·min⁻¹·mg⁻¹ in GM GOX (Barry & Kishore, 1998), but would not be further compared with our results as technical differences could interfere, for example, how the oxygen ratio utilization of GOX can vary depending of the GOX origin, and the use of advanced technics such as radiometry.

CHAPTER 6

CONCLUSIONS

After culture in stressful conditions (phosphorous starvation, GP presence), the strain *B. cereus* 6P suffered morphological changes, most likely due to the limitation of several metabolic pathways regulated by phosphate concentration.

The production of a cytoplasmic GP-degrading enzyme independent of Pi levels was successfully achieved, maintaining GP as the sole source of phosphorous in the medium.

The TP concentration in CE samples was less than 1.0 mg/mL, suggesting that optimizing growth conditions and a lysis process is necessary to utilize the best-limiting reagents, such as GP and TP.

Quantification of Pi released from the GP molecule can be accurately followed by the Malachite Green Assay, supposing a cheaper method than the typical analysis using derivatization and HPLC.

The specific activity of cell-free extracts (CE and precipitate) presented higher values at pH 8.0 and 30 °C. The specific activity in the reaction mix containing FAD at pH 8.0 was slightly higher than its counterpart without the dinucleotide. Still, both reaction types had almost the same behavior as a function of pH. An ANOVA showed no significant difference between the effect of FAD and no FAD reaction mixes on the enzymatic activity. Still, significant statistical differences were found in the effect of pH values on the enzymatic activity. This implies that the presence of FAD is not a determinant of the enzyme's activity, as in the case of GOX.

The reaction mix containing FAD seems to minimize the activity loss at higher temperatures (45 °C), while the reaction mix without FAD presents activity loss as temperature rises. The highest GP degradation percentage was 39.92% after 1 h of CE incubation in the presence of FAD at pH 8.0 and 30°C; degradation values for almost all other conditions were much lower.

In the present study, it was not possible to further purify the enzyme, remaining unknown the molecular weight.

6.1 Suggestions and Propositions

It would be significant to optimize the lysis method to enhance the TP obtained per batch of cells. Another suggestion is to secure the supply of the most vital reagent for subsequent projects, as in this case was GP. If GP is guaranteed, several tests can be followed (such as increasing the culture batch volume) to obtain better performance and confirm the reproducibility of every result that needs to be addressed. Also, it is prudent to use another method for TP quantification with higher sensibility and fewer interferences, as can be BCA.

CHAPTER 7

REFERENCES

- Acosta-Cortés, A. G., Martinez-Ledezma, C., López-Chuken, U. J., Kaushik, G., Nimesh, S., & Villarreal-Chiu, J. F. (2019). Polyphosphate recovery by a native Bacillus cereus strain as a direct effect of glyphosate uptake. *The ISME Journal 2019 13:6*, *13*(6), 1497–1505. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41396-019-0366-3
- Albert, L. A. (2019). Evolución del marco legal para el control de los plaguicidas en México — ecologica. La Jornada Ecológica. https://ecologica.jornada.com.mx/2019/04/24/evolucion-del-marco-legalpara-el-control-de-los-plaguicidas-en-mexico-4491.html
- Alcántara-de la Cruz, R., Cruz-Hipolito, H. E., Domínguez-Valenzuela, J. A., & De Prado, R. (2021). Glyphosate ban in Mexico: potential impacts on agriculture and weed management. *Pest Management Science*, 77(9), 3820–3831. https://doi.org/10.1002/PS.6362
- Barry, G. F., & Kishore, G. M. (1998). *Glyphosate tolerant plants* (Patent 5776760).
- Beecraft, L., & Rooney, R. (2021). Bioconcentration of glyphosate in wetland biofilms. Science of The Total Environment, 756, 143993. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.SCITOTENV.2020.143993
- Benbrook, C. M. (2016). Trends in glyphosate herbicide use in the United States and globally. *Environmental Sciences Europe*, 28(1), 1–15. https://doi.org/10.1186/S12302-016-0070-0/FIGURES/4
- Bradberry, S. M., Proudfoot, A. T., & Vale, J. A. (2007). Herbicides. Haddad and Winchester's Clinical Management of Poisoning and Drug Overdose, Fourth Edition, 1195–1211. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-7216-0693-4.50083-9
- Bravo, E., & Naranjo, A. (2016). América Latina fumigada y crisis de las commodities. El caso del glifosato de Monsanto. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.15446/cp.v11n21.60295
- Clapp, J. (2021). Explaining Growing Glyphosate Use: The Political Economy of Herbicide-Dependent Agriculture. *Global Environmental Change*, 67. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.GLOENVCHA.2021.102239
- CONAHCyT. (2022, January 17). *Consejo Nacional de Humanidades, Ciencia y Tecnología (CONAHCyT) Comunicado 278.* https://conahcyt.mx/el-

conacyt-recomendo-a-las-autoridades-competentes-las-cotas-deimportacion-de-glifosato-para-2022-en-atencion-a-decreto-presidencial/

- DOF. (2020, December 31). Decreto por el que se establecen las acciones que deberán realizar las dependencias y entidades que integran la Administración Pública Federal, para sustituir gradualmente el uso, adquisición, distribución, promoción e importación de la sustancia química denominada glifosato, por alternativas sostenibles y culturalmente adecuadas, que permitan mantener la producción y resulten seguras para la salud humana, la diversidad biocultural del país y el ambiente. https://www.dof.gob.mx/nota_detalle.php?codigo=5609365&fecha=31/12/20 20
- DOF. (2023, February 13). Decreto por el que se establecen diversas acciones en materia de glifosato y maíz genéticamente modificado. https://www.dof.gob.mx/nota_detalle.php?codigo=5679405&fecha=13/02/20 23#gsc.tab=0
- Elarabi, N. I., Abdelhadi, A. A., Ahmed, R. H., Saleh, I., Arif, I. A., Osman, G., & Ahmed, D. S. (2020). Bacillus aryabhattai FACU: A promising bacterial strain capable of manipulating glyphosate herbicide residues. *Saudi Journal* of *Biological Sciences*, 27(9), 2207–2214. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.SJBS.2020.06.050
- Engel, R. (1977). Phosphonates as Analogues of Natural Phosphates. *Chemical Reviews*, 77(3), 349–367. https://doi.org/10.1021/CR60307A003/ASSET/CR60307A003.FP.PNG V03
- Esikova, T. Z., Anokhina, T. O., Suzina, N. E., Shushkova, T. V, Wu, Y., & Solyanikova, I. P. (2023). Characterization of a New Pseudomonas Putida Strain Ch2, a Degrader of Toxic Anthropogenic Compounds Epsilon-Caprolactam and Glyphosate. *Microorganisms*, *11*(3). https://doi.org/10.3390/microorganisms11030650
- Fan, J., Yang, G., Zhao, H., Shi, G., Geng, Y., Hou, T., & Tao, K. (2012). Isolation, identification and characterization of a glyphosate-degrading bacterium, Bacillus cereus CB4, from soil. *Journal of General and Applied Microbiology*, *58*(4), 263–271. https://doi.org/10.2323/JGAM.58.263
- FAO. (2023, July 14). Pesticides Use. https://www.fao.org/faostat/en/#data/RP
- Gillezeau, C., Van Gerwen, M., Shaffer, R. M., Rana, I., Zhang, L., Sheppard, L., & Taioli, E. (2019). The evidence of human exposure to glyphosate: A review. *Environmental Health: A Global Access Science Source*, *18*(1). https://doi.org/10.1186/S12940-018-0435-5

- González-Moscoso, M., Meza-Figueroa, D., Martínez-Villegas, N. V., & Pedroza-Montero, M. R. (2023). GLYPHOSATE IMPACT on human health and the environment: Sustainable alternatives to replace it in Mexico. *Chemosphere*, *340*, 139810. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.CHEMOSPHERE.2023.139810
- Gouda, M. D., Singh, S. A., Rao, A. G. A., Thakur, M. S., & Karanth, N. G. (2003). Thermal Inactivation of Glucose Oxidase. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 278(27), 24324–24333. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.m208711200
- Habte, M. L., & Beyene, E. A. (2020). Biological Application and Disease of Oxidoreductase Enzymes. In M. A. Mansour (Ed.), Oxidoreductase. IntechOpen. https://doi.org/10.5772/intechopen.93328
- Hadi, F., Mousavi, A., Noghabi, K. A., Tabar, H. G., & Salmanian, A. H. (2013). New bacterial strain of the genus Ochrobactrum with glyphosate-degrading activity. *Journal of Environmental Science and Health - Part B Pesticides, Food Contaminants, and Agricultural Wastes*, *48*(3), 208–213. https://doi.org/10.1080/03601234.2013.730319
- Horsman, G. P., & Zechel, D. L. (2017). Phosphonate Biochemistry. *Chemical Reviews*, *117*(8), 5704–5783. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.chemrev.6b00536
- Hove-Jensen, B., Zechel, D. L., & Jochimsen, B. (2014). Utilization of Glyphosate as Phosphate Source: Biochemistry and Genetics of Bacterial Carbon-Phosphorus Lyase. *Microbiology and Molecular Biology Reviews : MMBR*, 78(1), 176. https://doi.org/10.1128/MMBR.00040-13
- IARC. (2017). Some Organophosphate Insecticides and Herbicides Volume 112.
- Kamat, S. S., Williams, H. J., Dangott, L. J., Chakrabarti, M., & Raushel, F. M. (2013). The catalytic mechanism for aerobic formation of methane by bacteria. *Nature*, 497(7447), 132–136. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature12061
- Lozano-Kasten, F., Sierra-Diaz, E., Chavez, H. G., Peregrina Lucano, A. A., Cremades, R., & Pinto, E. S. (2021). Seasonal Urinary Levels of Glyphosate in Children From Agricultural Communities: *Https://Doi.Org/10.1177/15593258211053184*, *19*(4), 1–6. https://doi.org/10.1177/15593258211053184
- Martínez Ledezma, C. (2019). Degradación de glifosato por un sistema alternativo a la C-P liasa independiente de los niveles de fosfato producido por *Bacillus cereus* 6P nativa de Nuevo León. Universidad Autónoma de Nuevo León.
- Martínez-Herrera, R. E., Alemán-Huerta, M. E., Rutiaga-Quiñones, O. M., de Luna-Santillana, E. de J., & Elufisan, T. O. (2023). A comprehensive view of Bacillus cereus as a polyhydroxyalkanoate (PHA) producer: A promising

alternative to Petroplastics. *Process Biochemistry*, *129*, 281–292. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.PROCBIO.2023.03.032

- McCleary, W. R. (2017). Molecular Mechanisms of Phosphate Homeostasis in *Escherichia coli*. In A. Samie (Ed.), Escherichia coli. IntechOpen. https://doi.org/10.5772/67283
- Myers, J. P., Antoniou, M. N., Blumberg, B., Carroll, L., Colborn, T., Everett, L. G., Hansen, M., Landrigan, P. J., Lanphear, B. P., Mesnage, R., Vandenberg, L. N., Vom Saal, F. S., Welshons, W. V., & Benbrook, C. M. (2016). Concerns over use of glyphosate-based herbicides and risks associated with exposures: A consensus statement. *Environmental Health:* A Global Access Science Source, 15(1), 1–13. https://doi.org/10.1186/S12940-016-0117-0/TABLES/1
- Nickerson, J. L., & Doucette, A. A. (2020). Rapid and Quantitative Protein Precipitation for Proteome Analysis by Mass Spectrometry. *Journal of Proteome Research*, 19(5), 2035–2042. https://doi.org/10.1021/ACS.JPROTEOME.9B00867/SUPPL_FILE/PR9B00 867_SI_021.XLSX
- Nowack, B. (2003). Environmental chemistry of phosphonates. *Water Research*, 37(11), 2533–2546. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/S0043-1354(03)00079-4
- OECD. (2021). Regulatory Governance in the Pesticide Sector in Mexico. In *Gobernanza Regulatoria en el Sector de Plaguicidas de México*. OECD. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1787/99adfd61-en
- Ojelade, B. S., Durowoju, O. S., Adesoye, P. O., Gibb, S. W., & Ekosse, G. I. (2022). Review of Glyphosate-Based Herbicide and Aminomethylphosphonic Acid (AMPA): Environmental and Health Impacts. *Applied Sciences 2022, Vol. 12, Page 8789, 12*(17), 8789. https://doi.org/10.3390/APP12178789
- Peillex, C., & Pelletier, M. (2020). The impact and toxicity of glyphosate and glyphosate-based herbicides on health and immunity. *Https://Doi.Org/10.1080/1547691X.2020.1804492*, *17*(1), 163–174. https://doi.org/10.1080/1547691X.2020.1804492
- Pey, A. L., Megarity, C. F., & Timson, D. J. (2014). FAD binding overcomes defects in activity and stability displayed by cancer-associated variants of human NQO1. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA) - Molecular Basis of Disease*, *1842*(11), 2163–2173. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.BBADIS.2014.08.011

- Pontes, M. H., & Groisman, E. A. (2018). Protein synthesis controls phosphate homeostasis. *Genes & Development*, *32*(1), 79–92.
- Rendón-Von Osten, J., & Dzul-Caamal, R. (2017). Glyphosate Residues in Groundwater, Drinking Water and Urine of Subsistence Farmers from Intensive Agriculture Localities: A Survey in Hopelchén, Campeche, Mexico. International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health 2017, Vol. 14, Page 595, 14(6), 595. https://doi.org/10.3390/IJERPH14060595
- Richmond, M. E. (2018). Glyphosate: A review of its global use, environmental impact, and potential health effects on humans and other species. *Journal* of Environmental Studies and Sciences, 8(4), 416–434. https://doi.org/10.1007/S13412-018-0517-2
- SADER. (2023, June 29). *Hablemos de… la agricultura en México (Parte 1)*. https://www.gob.mx/agricultura/articulos/hablemos-de-la-agricultura-enmexico-parte-1
- Schowanek, D., & Verstraete, W. (1990). Phosphonate utilization by bacterial cultures and enrichments from environmental samples. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, *56*(4), 895–903. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.56.4.895-903.1990
- Scopes, R. K. (1982). Separation by Precipitation. *Protein Purification*, 39–66. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4757-1770-9_3
- Selvapandiyan, A., & Bhatnagar, R. K. (1994). Isolation of a glyphosatemetabolising Pseudomonas: detection, partial purification and localisation of carbon-phosphorus lyase. *Applied Microbiology and Biotechnology*, 40(6), 876–882. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00173992
- Selvi, A. A., & Manonmani, H. K. (2015). Purification and Characterization of Carbon–Phosphorus Bond-Cleavage Enzyme From Glyphosate Degrading Pseudomonas putida T5. *Preparative Biochemistry & Biotechnology*, 45(4), 380–397. https://doi.org/10.1080/10826068.2014.923448
- Singh, S., Kumar, V., Gill, J. P. K., Datta, S., Singh, S., Dhaka, V., Kapoor, D.,
 Wani, A. B., Dhanjal, D. S., Kumar, M., Harikumar, S. L., & Singh, J. (2020).
 Herbicide Glyphosate: Toxicity and Microbial Degradation. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health 2020, Vol. 17, Page 7519*, *17*(20), 7519. https://doi.org/10.3390/IJERPH17207519
- Sosa, B., Fontans-Álvarez, E., Romero, D., da Fonseca, A., & Achkar, M. (2019). Analysis of scientific production on glyphosate: An example of the politicization of science. *Science of The Total Environment*, 681, 541–550. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.SCITOTENV.2019.04.379

- Stosiek, N., Talma, M., & Klimek-Ochab, M. (2019). Carbon-Phosphorus Lyase—the State of the Art. *Applied Biochemistry and Biotechnology 2019 190:4*, *190*(4), 1525–1552. https://doi.org/10.1007/S12010-019-03161-4
- Sviridov, A. V., Shushkova, T. V., Ermakova, I. T., Ivanova, E. V., Epiktetov, D. O., & Leontievsky, A. A. (2015). Microbial degradation of glyphosate herbicides (Review). *Applied Biochemistry and Microbiology 2015 51:2*, *51*(2), 188–195. https://doi.org/10.1134/S0003683815020209
- Sviridov, A. V., Shushkova, T. V., Zelenkova, N. F., Vinokurova, N. G., Morgunov, I. G., Ermakova, I. T., & Leontievsky, A. A. (2012). Glyphosate and methylphosphonate catabolism systems are distributed in soil bacteria Ochrobactrum anthropi and Achromobacter sp. *Applied Microbiology and Biotechnology*, *93*(2), 787–796. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00253-011-3485-y
- Sviridov, A. V, Zelenkova, N. F., Vinokurova, N. G., Ermakova, I. T., & Leontievsky, A. A. (2011). New approaches to identification and activity estimation of glyphosate degradation enzymes. *Biochemistry (Moscow)*, 76(6), 720–725. https://doi.org/10.1134/S0006297911060149
- Székács, A., & Darvas, B. (2012). Forty Years with Glyphosate. *Herbicides -Properties, Synthesis and Control of Weeds*. https://doi.org/10.5772/32491
- Tresnakova, N., Stara, A., & Velisek, J. (2021). Effects of Glyphosate and Its Metabolite AMPA on Aquatic Organisms. *Applied Sciences 2021, Vol. 11, Page 9004, 11*(19), 9004. https://doi.org/10.3390/APP11199004
- Vera, M., Pagliai, F., Guiliani, N., & Jerez, C. (2008). The Chemolithoautotroph Acidithiobacillus ferrooxidans Can Survive under Phosphate-Limiting Conditions by Expressing a C-P Lyase Operon That Allows It To Grow on Phosphonates. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 74(6), 1829–1835. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.02101-07

von der Haar, T. (2019). Methanol Precipitation of Proteins. Protocols. lo.

- Wackett, L. P., Shames, S. L., Venditti, C. P., & Walsh, C. T. (1987). Bacterial carbon-phosphorus lyase: Products, rates, and phosphonic and phosphinic acid metabolism regulation. *Journal of Bacteriology*, *169*(2), 710–717. https://doi.org/10.1128/JB.169.2.710-717.1987
- Werner, M., Berndt, C., & Mansfield, B. (2021). The Glyphosate Assemblage: Herbicides, Uneven Development, and Chemical Geographies of Ubiquity. *Https://Doi.Org/10.1080/24694452.2021.1898322*, *112*(1), 19–35. https://doi.org/10.1080/24694452.2021.1898322
 - White, A. K., & Metcalf, W. W. (2007). Microbial metabolism of reduced phosphorus compounds. *Annual Review of Microbiology*, *61*,

379–400. https://doi.org/10.1146/ANNUREV.MICRO.61.080706.093357

- Xu, B., Sun, Q. J., Lan, J. C. W., Chen, W. M., Hsueh, C. C., & Chen, B. Y. (2019). Exploring the glyphosate-degrading characteristics of a newly isolated, highly adapted indigenous bacterial strain, Providencia rettgeri GDB 1. *Journal of Bioscience and Bioengineering*, *128*(1), 80–87. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.JBIOSC.2019.01.012
- Zuriari, R., Vigneswari, S., Azizan, M. N. M., Majid, M. I. A., & Amirul, A. (2013). A High Throughput Nile Red Fluorescence Method for Rapid Quantification of Intracellular Bacterial Polyhydroxyalkanoates. *Biotechnology and Bioprocess Engineering*, *18*, 472–478. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12257-012-0607-z